
Chief Executive’s Directorate
Pensions and Investments  The Parkhouse Building  Kingmoor Park  Carlisle

Cumbria  CA6 4SJ  Fax 01228 226231
Tel 01228 226608   Email pensions@cumbria.gov.uk

1

16 November 2015 

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Fire Local Pension Board

Agenda
CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

A meeting of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will be held as follows: 

Date: Tuesday 24 November 2015
Time: 1.00 pm
Place: Kraemer Room, The Courts, Carlisle, CA3 8NA

Dawn Roberts
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance 

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Gill Welbourn
Direct Line: 01228 226566
Email: gill.welbourn@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



2

MEMBERSHIP

Mr B Doughty (Chair)
Mr G Strong
Mr G Higgins
Mr M Nicholson



3

A G E N D A

PRELIMINARY MATTERS

 Introductions

 Code of conduct requirements

 Appointment of chair and vice chair

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any items on the agenda.

3  MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

To note the appointment of the Chair (Cllr Barry Doughty) and propose, from the 
members of the Board representing members of the Scheme, a Vice-Chair.

4  GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS TO ESTABLISH THE FIRE LOCAL 
PENSION BOARD

 Firefighters’ Pension Administration Arrangements

The 2015 Firefighters’ Pension Scheme regulations require the LPB to assist the 
Scheme Manager in ensuring the effective and efficient governance and 
administration of the scheme.  This is, potentially, a wide ranging role and allows, for 
instance, the LPB to look at the governance of all procedures and systems 
underpinning the administration of the scheme.

Since 1st February 2011, the Scheme has had Lancashire County Council’s “Your 
Pension Service, YPS” as administration providers.  We are currently in the process 
of reviewing this current collaborative arrangement and will bring the revised 
collaborative agreement to the next meeting.

A presentation from Julie Wigg, YPS, will be given to the LPB at today’s meeting 
(Agenda Item 7), that will allow members to ask Julie any questions on the service 
being provided.

 To consider a report from the Assistant Director – Finance.



4

5  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority 

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.  

5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.  

6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 
interest.

7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered.



5

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).   

6  MINUTES

This is the first meeting of the Board therefore there are no minutes of previous 
meetings.

7  FUTURE MEETINGS

Dates of future meetings of the Board are proposed:-

 March 2016 (be confirmed),
 September 2016 (to be confirmed).

8  TRAINING - AN OVERVIEW OF FIRE PENSION SCHEME

 Information briefing session to be delivered by Finance Manager – Regulatory 
and Benefits.

 Overview of Pensions Administration service to be delivered by Julie Wigg – 
Partnerships Manager, Your Pension Scheme (YPS)

9  NEW POLICY ON REPORTING BREACHES TO THE PENSION REGULATOR

 To consider a report from the Assistant Director – Finance.

10  KEY FUND AND WIDER GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS

Documents to be distributed in the meeting:

A. Cumbria County Council Audited Annual Financial Report  2014/15
B. Grant Thornton – The Audit Findings for Cumbria County Council year ended 31 

March 2015
C. Your Pension Service (YPS) Annual Administration Report 2015 
D. Lancashire County Council  Internal Audit Report - Pension Administration 

Cumbria County Council  - Final Report, April 2015
E. Cumbria Fire Pension Scheme Discretions Policy (Draft)
F. Code of Practice no.14 – Governance and Administration of Public Sector 

Pension Schemes
G. Listing of useful websites and information sources



This page is intentionally left blank



Part 2Q: Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board
1 Summary

1.1 The Cumbria Fire Local Pensions Board is responsible for assisting the 
Administering Authority of the Cumbria Local Government Scheme to comply 
with all relevant legislative requirements and to ensure the effective 
governance of the scheme for Cumbria Firefighters Pensions. 

2 Functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board

2.1 The functions of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board are to: 

(a) Assist the Scheme Manager of the Cumbria Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme to secure compliance with:

(i) The regulations covering administration of the Firefighters’ 
Pension Schemes (FPS);

(ii) Other legislation relation to the governance and administration of 
the FPS; and

(iii) The requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation 
to the FPS.

(iv) Ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration 
of the FPS.

2.2   The Board must have a policy and framework to meet the knowledge and   
understanding requirements of section 248A of the Pensions Act 2004.

2.3 In its role in assisting the Scheme Manager as described above, the Board 
shall report twice yearly to Council on matters reviewed and suggestions for 
their consideration. 

2.4  Where the Board is concerned that due consideration has not been given to 
matters of non-compliance the Board may submit a report for consideration by 
the Audit and Assurance Committee as the body designated by the Scheme 
Manager with the capacity to investigate such matters on its behalf. 

2.5 The Board is constituted under the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and the 
Fire Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2014 and is 
therefore not subject to the requirements of s.101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



2.6 The Board has no remit as a decision making body but is established to assist 
the Scheme Manager fulfil its functions which shall be deemed to cover all 
aspects of governance and administration of the Pension Scheme.

3 Operating Structure and Codes of Conduct of the Cumbria 
Fire Local Pension Board

3.1 The operating structure and codes of conduct of the Cumbria Fire Local 
Pension Board is as follows:

a) The Board will be quorate if 50% of designated members (i.e. 2) are in 
attendance.

b) Prior to appointment to the Board all members will be required to sign up 
to the Board’s Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy.  As a 
body representing the public interest the Code of Conduct and Conflicts 
of Interest Policy of members of the Fire Local Pension Board will be 
aligned to those applicable to members of the Pension Committee.

c) The Board will meet as a minimum twice a year. Meetings will be held 
during normal working hours and will predominantly be held within 
County boundaries. 

d) Where required, a minimum of two Board members (one from the 
scheme member representatives and one from the scheme employer 
representatives) or the Scheme Manager can request a special meeting 
be convened.  Notice of ten working days must be given.

e) As a non-decision-making body the Board have no authority to establish 
working parties / sub-groups. 

f) Each member shall have an equal vote and, should it be required, the 
Chair will have the casting vote.

4 Commissioning of Service providers and Advisors 

4.1 All members of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board have the right to 
access the support of independent advisors, however due regard has to be 
taken of securing value for money and as such whether in the first instance 
officers of the County Council could provide the assistance required. 

4.2 Items of expenditure by the Board must have prior approval from the Section 
151 Officer.

Page 8



5 Role of Officers

Reasonable secretarial and professional support will be provided by Officers 
of the Scheme Manager.  Costs associated with this will be charged to 
Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service.

6 Publication and Data Protection

6.1 As a general principle meetings will be open to the public. 

6.2 Paper or electronic versions (as requested) of all agendas and papers will be 
provided to all members of the Board prior to a meeting. The Chair can accept 
that items be tabled on the day should such a need arise.

6.3 As a matter of policy the Pension Board has adopted the principals of 
paperless working, therefore as a matter of course public access to all 
agendas, public papers and minutes etc. will be available on the Council’s 
website. On request alternative media versions are available.

6.4 The County Council as the Scheme Manager is the registered data controller 
of the Cumbria FPS, and as such all policies and practices in this regard 
applicable within the County Council are directly applicable to the Board.

7 Membership 

7.1 Equal representation between scheme employers and scheme members is 
required.  The membership of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board will 
comprise two scheme member representatives and two scheme employer 
representatives.  Substitutes are not permitted.

7.2 Appointment of Board members - To ensure an open and transparent 
selection process and to ensure the Scheme Manager meets its obligation to 
ensure appointed members have the relevant understanding and capacity, the 
selection process will be through application, matching to a role profile and 
interview.  The Appointment Panel will consist of the Section 151 Officer, 
Monitoring Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance.

7.3 Appointments will be for four years and there will be no limit on the number of 
times a member of the board can seek to be reappointed.

7.4 The two scheme member representatives will be selected to ensure all 
membership groups within the Fund are covered.

Page 9



7.5 Appointment of the Chair / Vice Chair – the Scheme Manager will appoint 
the Chair and the Vice Chair.  The roles will be split with one being a scheme 
representative member rep and one being a scheme representative employer 
rep and this will be alternated on a two yearly cycle. 

7.6 Reimbursement of reasonable expenses for attendance at meetings and 
training sessions will be in line with the Council’s agreed policies and rates for 
Elected Members. All such costs will be met directly by Cumbria Fire and 
Rescue Service. 

7.7 Relevant knowledge and Capacity – the Scheme Manager must ensure that 
each person appointed to the Board has the relevant knowledge and the 
capacity to represent the employers or members (as appropriate) of the 
Scheme.  Initially this will be done through selection by the Scheme Manager 
but, following appointment, it is a member’s individual responsibility to ensure 
they attend all training etc. to enable them to continue to fulfil the experience 
and capacity requirements.  Full training will be provided and all reasonable 
costs will be met by Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service.  To ensure compliance 
with the above a general level of attendance at meetings and training events 
is required.

Page 10



FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

Meeting date: 24 November 2015

From: Assistant Director – Finance (Section 151 
Officer)

GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS TO ESTABLISH THE FIRE 
LOCAL PENSION BOARD

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This report sets out the arrangements that need to be addressed to 
ensure the operational governance meets legislative requirements for 
the following areas:-

 The Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board Code of Conduct 
(Conflicts of Interest) Policy (‘the Code’) (Appendix 1).
For consistency as a body representing the public interest the 
Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy of members 
of the Fire Local Pension Board will be aligned to those 
applicable to members of the Cumbria Pension Committee, 
and adopted by the Cumbria Local Pension Board.

 Understanding the role of the Fire Local Pension Board (‘the 
Board’). Knowledge and understanding requirements for 
Members of Local Pension Boards.

1.2 The Board is required to formally adopt the Cumbria Fire Scheme Code 
of Conduct (Conflicts of Interest) Policy and each member is required 
to declare any interests accordingly prior to the Board undertaking any 
business.
 

1.3 The Members of the Board are required to confirm their broad 
understanding:-
 of the role of the Board; and
 the individual knowledge and understanding requirements for 

Members of a Local Pension Board.

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 Management of the Board has been addressed in the Board’s Terms of Reference. 
The Cumbria Council Budget 2015/16 (approved by the Council at its meeting in 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



February 2015) approved the allocation of anticipated resource implications for 
the Board. 

2.2 There are no equality implications from this report.

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 That Members agree to adopt the draft Cumbria Fire Local Pension 
Board Code of Conduct (Conflicts of Interest) Policy (as at Appendix 1). 

3.2 That Members confirm their broad understanding:-
 of the role of the Fire Local Pension Board; and
 the knowledge and understanding requirements for Members of 

a Local Pension Board.

4.0 BACKGROUND

4.1 There are certain legislative and regulatory requirements that need to be 
confirmed prior to operational proceedings of the Board being initiated.  This 
paper deals with the immediate areas requiring attention, specifically:
 Code of Conduct / Conflicts of Interest for members, officers and 

advisors;
 Board members understanding of the role of the Fire Local Pension 

Board; and
 the knowledge and understanding requirements for Members of a 

Local Pension Board.

5.0 CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD CODE OF CONDUCT 
(CONFLICTS OF INTEREST) POLICY 

5.1 The Board is required to be fully compliant with legislative requirements for 
identifying, monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest so as to ensure 
that no actual conflicts of interest arise.

5.2 For the purpose of a member of a Local Pension Board a “conflict of interest” is 
defined in section 5 (para 5) of the 2013 Pensions Act as a financial or other interest 
which is likely to prejudice a person’s exercise of functions as a member of a Local 
Pension Board.

5.3 The Act also specifies that a conflict does not include a financial or other interest 
arising merely by virtue of that person being a member of the Fire Pension Scheme.

5.4 Therefore a conflict may arise when a member of the Board must fulfil their legal 
duty to assist the Scheme Manager and at the same time they have, a separate 
personal interest (financial or otherwise); or another responsibility in relation to that 
matter giving rise to a possible conflict with their first responsibility as a member of 
the Board.

Page 12



5.5 To meet the requirements of the Public Service Pension Act 2013 and per 
the Terms of Reference for the Board it is proposed to adapt the Councils’ 
Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members for the Local 
Pensions Board, which throughout deals with Conflict of Interests and as 
such there is no proposal to have a separate policy for this. 

5.6 There is a requirement for all Board Members to make a declaration in 
advance of conducting business, and as such at the first meeting 
confirmation of the Code and registration of compliance with the 
requirements regarding conflicts of interest, will be considered as the first 
agenda item.

5.7 This paper outlines the approach for ensuring the Board and its individual 
members, officers and advisors is fully compliant with legislative 
requirements for identifying, monitoring and managing potential conflicts of 
interest so as to ensure that any actual conflicts are managed appropriately.

5.8 This policy applies to members of the Board and to all officers and advisors 
supporting the operation of the Board. 

5.9 The policy (Appendix 1) and supporting guidance (Appendix 2) sets out the 
procedures to be followed and the checks and measures in operation to 
ensure the business of the Board and any decisions or actions taken by it 
are open, transparent and compliant. 

Managing Potential Conflicts of Interest – Specific Legislative Requirements 
on Pension Boards 

5.10 Public Service Pension Act 2013 - Under section 5 (para 4) of the Public 
Service Pension Act 2013 it is a requirement for the regulations governing 
public sector pension schemes to include provisions ensuring Board 
members do not have conflicts of interest. The Firefighters Pension Scheme 
(Amendment)(Governance) regulations 2015 fulfil this requirement as 
follows:

5.11 The Firefighters Pension Scheme (Amendment)(Governance) 
regulations 2015 Regulation 4C: Local Pension Boards: Conflicts of Interest

1) Each scheme manager (in the case of the Fire Pension Scheme this 
is Cumbria County Council) must be satisfied that any person to be 
appointed as a member of a local pension board does not have a 
conflict of interest.

2) A scheme manager must be satisfied from time to time that none of 
the members of a local pension board has a conflict of interest. 

3) A person who is to be appointed as a member of a local pension 
board by a scheme manager must provide that scheme manager with 
such information as that scheme manager reasonably requires for the 
purposes of paragraph (1).

Page 13



4) A person who is a member of a local pension board must provide the 
scheme manager which made the appointment with such information 
as that scheme manager reasonably requires for the purposes of 
paragraph (2). 

5.12 Pensions Regulator – the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 extended the 
regulatory oversight of the Pensions Regulator (tPR) to include public sector 
schemes (including the Fire Pension Scheme) and added new provisions 
into the Pensions Act 2004 requiring tPR to issue a code of practice on the 
governance of public service pension schemes including conflicts of interest 
for Pension Boards. 

5.13 Complying with these new requirements (Section 90A to the Pensions Act 
2004) tPR issued Code of Practice no.14 (Governance and Administration of 
Public Service Pension Schemes) in January 2015. This Code of Conduct 
proposed has regard to the details of the code which interprets legal 
requirements and offers practical guidance to scheme managers on meeting 
the terms of FPS Regulation 4C (above). 

5.14 This Code of Conduct (Conflicts of Interest) Policy for the Pension Board of 
the Fire Pension Scheme sets out procedures to be followed by individuals 
in their capacity as Board members and as officers or advisors supporting 
the operation of the Fire Local Pension Board. In addition, individuals must 
also comply with all requirements placed on them by codes of conduct and 
other policies connected with their wider roles and responsibilities, whether 
as elected members, officers, salaried officials or advisors (e.g. by the 
County Council Code of Conduct, and the Protocol for County Councillor/ 
Officer Relations and their equivalents within other employer organisations). 

5.15 This policy encourages the consideration of interests in their broadest sense, 
an approach which reinforces the expectation that Board members, officers 
and advisors will maintain the highest standards of conduct in adherence 
with the seven principles of public life. These principles are – 

• Selflessness 
• Integrity 
• Objectivity 
• Accountability 
• Openness 
• Honesty 
• Leadership. 

5.16 The prevention of actual conflicts of interest is reliant on the effective 
management of potential conflicts of interest. This entails Board members 
(and the officers and advisors supporting them) have a clear understanding 
of what a potential conflict of interest is and what they must to do to ensure 
that no actual conflict arises.

5.17 Under this policy, the effective management of all potential conflicts of 
interest will be achieved through consistent compliance with 6 clear steps:

1) identifying interests
2) disclosing interests 

Page 14



3) maintaining an up to date register of interests
4) declaring potential conflicts
5) managing potential conflicts
6) recording and reviewing the management actions taken.

Compliance with the approach and procedures as set out in the Code is a 
requirement under the Terms of Reference for membership of the Board.

6.0 ROLE OF THE FIRE LOCAL PENSIONS BOARD

6.1 Members are required to declare that they understand the broad role of the 
Local Pension Board in supporting the governance arrangements of 
administering a fire pension scheme.  Section 6 of this report, in conjunction 
with an information briefing session to be provided at the meeting (Agenda 
Item 7), should assist members with this.

6.2 The Fire Pension Scheme is administered locally by 46 separate ‘Scheme 
Managers’ throughout England and Wales (there are also 8 Funds 
administered in Scotland and 1 in Northern Ireland).  Cumbria County 
Council is the scheme manager for the Fire Pension Scheme.

6.3 New regulations – the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (the PSP Act 2013) 
– came into effect on 1st April 2015 and require that all scheme managers 
establish a new body to be known as a Local Pension Board.  The purpose 
of the Board is to assist the scheme manager in its role as manager and 
administrator of the scheme. 

6.4 The creation of new Local Pension Boards does not change the core role of 
the scheme manager or the way it delegates its pension functions. Each 
scheme manager is responsible for managing and administering the Fire 
Pension Scheme in relation to any person for which it is the appropriate 
scheme manager under the Fire Pension Scheme Regulations. 

6.5 The role of each Local Pension Board is to help ensure each Scheme 
complies with governance and administration requirements. Specifically, the 
Local Pension Board is responsible for assisting the scheme manager: 
 to secure compliance with: 

o the Regulations; 
o other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the 

Fire Pension Scheme; and 
o the requirements imposed by the Regulator in relation to the Fire 

Pension Scheme, and 
 to ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the 

Fire Pension Scheme. 

6.6 Assisting the scheme manager should be interpreted as helping the scheme 
manager, including doing work requested by the scheme manager. The role 
of the Local Pension Board should be interpreted as covering all aspects of 
governance and administration of the Fire Pension Scheme. However, the 
Local Pension Board does not replace the scheme manager or make 

Page 15



decisions which are the responsibility of the scheme manager under both the 
Fire Pension Scheme Regulations and other overriding legislation. The 
scheme manager can choose to delegate duties to the Local Pension Board 
within the parameters of these regulations.

6.7 Details of the Board membership, meetings, quoracy etc. are set out in the 
Boards’ Terms of Reference. All Board members have a duty to act in 
accordance with fire scheme regulations and other governing documents. 

6.8 ‘Capacity’, knowledge and understanding of Board members: The PSP 
Act 2013 (regulation 107) requires that persons appointed as employer or 
member representatives have the capacity to represent the employers or 
members (as appropriate) of the Scheme  This means that members need to 
have the time to commit to attend meetings, undertake training and 
effectively represent employers and members (as appropriate).  It also 
means that members need to be able to properly represent the interests of 
members/employers as applicable.

6.9 The Pensions Act 2004 (section 248A) requires that every member of the 
Board: 

 be conversant with: 
o the rules of the Scheme, in other words the Regulations 

(Firefighters’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014; the 
Firefighters Pension Scheme Order 2006 and the Firefighters 
Pension Scheme Order 1992) and other regulations governing 
the Scheme (including the Firefighters’ Pension Scheme 
(Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2015); and 

o any document recording policy about the administration of the 
Scheme which is for the time being adopted in relation to the 
Scheme, and 

 have knowledge and understanding of: 
o the law relating to pensions; and 
o such other matters as may be prescribed. 

6.10 It is important to note that these legal responsibilities begin from the date 
Board members take up their role on the Board and that the knowledge and 
understanding requirement applies to every individual member of a Local 
Pension Board rather than to the members of a Local Pension Board as a 
collective group. It is appreciated that this is a large and complex area and it 
is anticipated that understanding will be developed over the term of office.  
The Board will receive training prior to any new areas of business being 
considered. 

Page 16



Fire Pension Service Governance Structure:

7.0 KNOWLEDGE AND UNDERSTANDING REQUIREMENTS FOR 
MEMBERS OF A LOCAL PENSION BOARD

7.1 There is a legislative requirement on Members of a Local Pension Board to 
develop a level of knowledge and understanding of pension matters 
sufficient to enable them to provide effective, constructive and informed 
support to the scheme manager. 

7.2 The responsibility is a personal one and will involve Board members 
undertaking training and study to gain (and maintain) a command over 
relevant information and develop an appropriate depth of knowledge.

7.3 Pensions Act 2004 - the legislative requirements on Board Members fall 
from section 5 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 which added a new 
section 248a into the Pension Act 2004. S248A places a requirement for 
knowledge and understanding: pension boards of public service pension 
schemes

1) This section applies to every individual who is a member of the 
pension board of a public service pension scheme.

2) An individual to whom this section applies must be conversant 
with—
(a) the rules of the scheme, and
(b) any document recording policy about the administration of 

the scheme which is for the time being adopted in relation 
to the scheme.

Page 17



3) An individual to whom this section applies must have 
knowledge and understanding of—
(a) the law relating to pensions, and
(b) such other matters as may be prescribed.

4) The degree of knowledge and understanding required by 
subsection (3) is that appropriate for the purposes of enabling 
the individual properly to exercise the functions of a member of 
the pension board.”

7.4 Whilst stressing that it is the responsibility of individual Pension Board 
members to ensure they have the appropriate degree of knowledge and 
understanding the Pensions Regulator (tPR) Code of Practice No.14 – 
Governance (issued in January 2015) encourages scheme managers:- 

 to establish and maintain policies and arrangements for acquiring and 
retaining knowledge and understanding to support their pension board 
members

 to designate a person to take responsibility for ensuring that a 
framework is developed and implemented.

7.5 It will be the responsibility of the Board to develop a training policy and it is 
proposed this will be drafted by officers for review at the next meeting. The 
Senior Manager – Pensions and Financial Services is the key point of 
contact as the person with responsibility for supporting members to develop 
their Knowledge and Understanding. Fulfilling this responsibility involves 
working with the Board to: 

 identify individual and communal learning needs, 
 establish the preferred / most effective methods of study and training, 
 agree subject matter priorities (which reflect the Board's Plan of 

Work),
 implement a non-bureaucratic approach for establishing and 

recording learning objectives and documenting progress towards 
achieving them which enables the Board to monitor its own 
compliance with the requirement for Knowledge and Understanding. 

7.6 Achieving the above begins with an initial conversation with the Board. 

7.7 It will be important to establish an agreement on overall approach and to 
ensure Board members are involved in shaping the design of a training plan 
and framework. 

7.8 Following the first meeting of the Board on 24th November, Board members 
are asked to: 

 review the key Scheme documents distributed at today’s meeting, 
 access the Virtual Reading Room and the Pension Regulators 

website as an aide, to then 
 reflect on their learning requirements and priorities,
 be ready to articulate their immediate concerns/questions/issues,
 identify some key priorities for a training plan.

Page 18



The above will be used to develop a detailed training plan over the coming 
meetings. The information will focus additional training at identified key 
learning priorities that may be specific to the Board.

8.0 OPTIONS

8.1 To agree to adopt the draft Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board Code of 
Conduct (Conflicts of Interest) Policy or to recommend amendments prior to 
approval.  Any amendments must adhere to the overriding principles in the 
Terms of Reference agreed by the scheme manager. 

8.2 That Members confirm their broad understanding:-
 of the role of the Fire Local Pension Board; and
 the knowledge and understanding requirements for Members of a 

Local Pension Board.
or request further information to enable them to do this.

9.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The regulations require that all costs of the Board are absorbed in the overall 
cost of administering individual schemes. 

9.2 As such all anticipated resource implications were considered and approved 
by the Council as the scheme manager when setting the annual budget for 
Cumbria 2015/16.  As a new body the scope and workload of the Board has 
yet to be finalised both locally and nationally.  At a local level the operation 
of the Board must be considered in the context of the budget and defined 
expenditure approval procedures.

10.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The legal considerations with regard to this report are explained in the body 
of the report. 

10.2 Adoption of a Code of Conduct which mirrors the Council’s Code of Conduct 
for members/co-opted members, including members of the Pensions Board, 
will put in place the same arrangements that exist for elected/co-opted 
members of Council decision making bodies to register and disclose their 
personal interests.  The Code makes specific provision for registration and 
declaration of interests, including when members may or may not participate 
in decision making.  In addition, the overall principles of public life set out in 
Section 1 of the Code provide standards of conduct which also provide 
guidance to members as to when their personal interests may result in a 
conflict with the interests of the Scheme.  

Page 19



11.0 CONCLUSION

11.1 Adoption of the policies and procedures as outlined above coupled with the 
training session to be delivered during the meeting will enable the Board to 
fulfil its initial governance and training requirements. This creation and 
operation of local pension boards is a new requirement for all public sector 
schemes including the Fire Service and its procedures and policies will 
evolve in line with national guidance and local operational requirements.

11.2 It is appreciated that this is a large and complex area and it is anticipated 
that understanding will be developed over the term of office.   Training will be 
given prior to any new areas of business being considered.

J Crellin
Assistant Director – Finance (Section 151 Officer)
November2015

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board Code of Conduct (Conflict of 
Interest) Policy
Appendix 2 Guidance for members of the Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board on the 
Code of Conduct (Conflict of Interest) Policy

IMPLICATIONS

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

N/A*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

Page 20



PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

 Cumbria Council – 15th January 2015 Agenda item 11a - Report of the 
Constitution Review Group (includes approval of Board Terms of Reference)

REPORT AUTHOR

Authors:
Fiona Miller, Senior Manager – Pensions & Financial Services (Deputy s.151 
Officer LGPS)  
01228 226288 Fiona.miller@cumbria.gov.uk  

Alison Clark, Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Treasury & Insurance  
01228 226311 alison.clark@cumbria.gov.uk 

Page 21

mailto:Fiona.miller@cumbria.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1

Draft Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board 
Members’ Code of Conduct (Conflict of 
Interest) Policy

1. Code of Conduct

Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board (“The Board”) has adopted the following 
code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members of the Board 
(“members”) when they are acting in that capacity as required by the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013 (“the Act”) to represent either members or 
employers of Cumbria Fire Pension Scheme (‘the Scheme’).

The Board has a statutory duty under the Act and subsequent legislation to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct by members and the Code 
sets out the standards that the Board expects members to observe.

The Code is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the obligations that are 
placed on members.  It is the responsibility of individual members to comply 
with the provisions of the Code as well as such other legal obligations as may 
apply to them from time to time. Failure to do so may result in a sanction 
being applied by the Scheme Manager. 

There are references throughout the Policy to the statutory post of “Monitoring 
Officer”. This role within Cumbria County Council and therefore in relation to 
Cumbria Fire Pension Scheme is designated to the Assistant Director – 
Corporate Governance.    

The code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles as attached to 
this code at Appendix C and applies whenever a person is acting in his/her 
capacity as a member of the Board member in the conduct of the Board’s 
business or acting as a representative of the Board.

1.1Behaviour

1.1.1 You must act solely in the interest of members and employers of the 
Fund and should never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 
benefits for yourself, your family, a friend, a close associate, an 
employer or a business carried on by you.

1.1.2 You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to 
outside individuals or organisations that may influence you in the 
performance of your duties

1.1.3 You must not disclose any information given to you as a member in 
breach of any confidence.

1.1.4 You must not bring your office or the authority into disrepute.

Page 22



APPENDIX 1

1.1.5 You must treat others with respect and must promote equality by not 
discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people 
with respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation or disability.

1.1.6 You must respect the impartiality and integrity of the statutory officers 
and other officers of the Council acting on behalf of the Scheme.

1.1.7 When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices in the 
best interests of the Scheme.

1.1.8 You are accountable for your decisions to the interested parties of the 
Scheme and you must co-operate fully with whatever scrutiny is 
appropriate to your office.

1.1.9 You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and 
the decisions and actions of the authority and should be prepared to 
give reasons for those decisions and actions. 

1.1.10 You must only use the resources of the Board in accordance with its 
requirements. In particular you must ensure, when using or authorising 
the use by others of the resources of the authority, that such resources 
are not used improperly for political purposes (including party political 
purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local Authority 
Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.

1.1.11 You must promote and support high standards of conduct when 
serving in your office.

2. Conflicts of Interest

2.1 Registration of interests 

2.1.1 You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member, register with 
the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set 
out in Appendices A (disclosable pecuniary interests) and B (other 
registerable interests).

2.1.2 You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of it, register with the 
Monitoring Officer any change to interests or new interests which fall 
within the categories set out in Appendices A and B. 

2.2 Declaration of interests at meetings

2.2.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in 
Appendix A (‘disclosable pecuniary interests’) you must declare the 
existence and nature of the interest even where it has been entered in 
the Board’s register, unless the matter is a ‘sensitive interest’ as 
described by the Localism Act 2011. Unless a dispensation has been 
granted, you must then leave the meeting room and may not 

Page 23



APPENDIX 1

participate in any discussion, vote on, or discharge any function related 
to the matter. Where the matter is a ‘sensitive interest’ you do not need 
to declare the nature of the interest but must still withdraw from the 
meeting without participating.

2.2.2 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to or affects an 
interest in Appendix B (‘other registerable interests’) you must declare 
the existence and nature of the interest unless it has been entered in 
the Board’s Register of Interests.  

2.2.3 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to or affects a 
financial interest of you, a friend, relative or close associate (and it is 
not a disclosable pecuniary interest or other registerable interest) you 
must declare the existence and nature of the interest.  Where the 
matter is a ‘sensitive interest’ you do not need to declare the nature of 
the interest. 

2.2.4 Where the matter relates to or affects the interest under paragraph 
2.2.3 more than the majority of people in the area affected by the 
decision and a reasonable member of the public would think your view 
of the public interest would be so adversely affected, you must then 
leave the meeting room and may not vote on, or discharge any function 
related to the matter unless a dispensation has been granted. You may 
speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 
speak at the meeting.  Where the matter is a ‘sensitive interest’ you do 
not need to declare the nature of the interest.

Page 24



APPENDIX 1

Appendix A – Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

A pecuniary interest is a “disclosable pecuniary interest” in relation to a member 
(“M”) if it is of a description specified in this Schedule and either—

(a) it is an interest of M’s, or

(b) it is an interest of—

(i) M’s spouse or civil partner,
(ii) a person with whom M is living as husband and wife, or
(iii) a person with whom M is living as if they were civil partners,

And M is aware that that other person has the interest.

Each category of person referred to above is described as the ‘relevant
person’.

The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in 
which a member has a disclosable pecuniary interest are considered to be the 
same for this Board as those set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.

For the Board disclosable pecuniary interests are taken to be those as defined in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 which 
are as follows –

Interest Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying 
out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M.
This includes any payment or financial benefit 
from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 
Act 1992).

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest) and the relevant 
authority—
(a)  under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and
(b)  which has not been fully discharged.

Page 25



APPENDIX 1

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the 
area of the relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the relevant authority for a 
month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)—
(a)  the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where—
(a)  that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and
(b)  either—

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of 
any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class.

For this purpose of identifying pecuniary interests –

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the 
relevant person is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest;

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an 
industrial and provident society;

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land 
which does not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly 
with another) to occupy the land or to receive income;

“M” means a member of the Board (including officers and advisers);

“relevant authority” means the Board of which M is a member;

Page 26



APPENDIX 1

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on 
which M gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or 31(7), as the 
case may be, of the Act;

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 
30(3)(b) of the Act;

“securities” means  shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, 
units of a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other 
than money deposited with a building society.

Page 27



APPENDIX 1

Appendix B – Other Registerable Interests

Other registerable interests are:
a) any body of which you are a member or in a position of  general 

control or management and to which you are appointed or nominated 
by the Board.

b) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general 
control or management and which 

i) exercises functions of a public nature

ii) is directed to charitable purposes, or

iii) is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes 
influencing public opinion or policy (this includes political 
parties or trade unions).

c) any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £100 (you must register any gifts and 
hospitality worth over £100 that you receive personally in 
connection with your official duties).

Page 28



APPENDIX 1

Appendix C – the seven principles of public life

The principles of public life apply to anyone who is elected or works as a public 
office-holder. All public office-holders are both servants of the public and stewards 
of public services. The principles are:

Selflessness Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 
interest. 

Integrity Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any 
obligation to people or organisations that might try inappropriately to 
influence them in their work. 

They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other 
material benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. 

They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

Objectivity Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly 
and on merit, using the best evidence and without discrimination or 
bias. 

Accountability Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions 
and actions and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to 
ensure this. 

Openness Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and 
transparent manner. Information should not be withheld from the public 
unless there are clear and lawful reasons for so doing. 

Honesty Holders of public office should be truthful. 

Leadership Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own 
behaviour. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and be willing to challenge poor behaviour wherever it 
occurs. 

Page 29



APPENDIX 2

GUIDANCE FOR MEMBERS OF THE CUMBRIA FIRE LOCAL PENSION 
BOARD ON CODE OF CONDUCT (CONFLICTS OF INTEREST) POLICY

INTRODUCTION

This document has been produced to offer guidance on the Code of Conduct for 
members.  The Code applies to all members and officers and advisers of the 
Cumbria Fire Local Pension Board (‘the Board’).

Ultimately, it is members’ responsibility to take specific advice from the Monitoring 
Officer where appropriate and to make a decision as to the most suitable course of 
action.
 

Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct (“the Code”) is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all the 
obligations that are placed on members, but it is the responsibility of individual 
members to comply with the provisions of the Code as well as such other legal 
obligations as may apply to them from time to time.

The Code is intended to be consistent with the seven principles of public life as 
attached to the Code which define the standards that members should uphold.  A 
failure to act in accordance with these general principles may in itself amount to a 
breach of the Code of Conduct. For example, by placing yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned, your conduct may be conduct 
which could “bring your office or the authority into disrepute”. 

When does the Code apply to you?

The Code applies to you whenever you act in your official capacity as a member of 
the Board.  

For the purposes of the Code, a “meeting” is a meeting of the Board.     

Page 30



APPENDIX 2

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE CODE

1.1. You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly 
confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain 
financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend, a 
close associate, an employer or business carried on by you.  

For example, your behaviour would be improper if you sought to further your 
private interests or that of somebody close to you through your position as a 
member.

1.2 You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to 
outside individuals or organisations that may influence you in the 
performance of your official duties.

It would not be appropriate to accept favours, gifts or hospitality from 
someone that may, at a later date, require something from the Board that 
you are in a position to influence.  For example, you may be offered a 
discount by a business in the area which subsequently applies for planning 
permission and/or a licence.  You may be on the relevant committee dealing 
with the application and, therefore, be in a difficult position. 

1.3 You must not disclose any information given to you as a member in 
breach of any confidence

As a general rule, you must not disclose confidential information, or 
information which you believe to be of a confidential nature, as doing so 
could be prejudicial to effective decision-making and could damage the 
reputation of the authority in the eyes of those who wish to do business with 
it as being a place which cannot be trusted to respect confidential or 
commercially sensitive information.

The courts have, however, defined exceptional circumstances where it may 
be in the public interest to disclose confidential information if you believe it is 
in the public interest to do so. However, these circumstances are very rare 
and you should raise your concerns with the Monitoring Officer in the first 
place before you consider disclosing confidential information.  These 
exceptional circumstances are:

 You have the consent of the person authorised to give it.

 You are required by law to do so.

 The disclosure is made to a third party for the purposes of obtaining 
professional advice (for example, your lawyer or other professional 
adviser) provided that person agrees not to disclose the information to 
any other person.

Page 31



APPENDIX 2

 The disclosure is in the public interest.  This is only justified in limited 
circumstances.

The public interest

In considering whether disclosure would be in the public interest you should 
consider the following points:

 Whether you believe that the information disclosed, and any allegation 
contained in it, is substantially true. If you do not believe this, the 
disclosure is unlikely to be reasonable.

 Whether you make the disclosure for personal gain. If you are paid to 
disclose the information, the disclosure is unlikely to be reasonable.

 The identity of the person to whom the disclosure is made. It may be 
reasonable to disclose information to the police or to an appropriate 
regulator. It is less likely to be reasonable for you to disclose the 
information to the world at large through the media or social media.

 The extent of the information disclosed. The inclusion of unnecessary 
detail, and in particular, private matters such as addresses or telephone 
numbers, is likely to render the disclosure unreasonable.

 The seriousness of the matter. The more serious the matter disclosed, 
the more likely it is that the disclosure will be reasonable.

 The timing of the disclosure. If the matter to which the disclosure relates 
has already occurred, and is unlikely to occur again, the disclosure may 
be less likely to be reasonable than if the matter is continuing, or is likely 
to reoccur.

 Whether the disclosure involves the authority failing in a duty of 
confidence owed to another person.

Disclosures which have been ruled serious enough and in the public interest 
to override the duty of confidentiality have related to the following matters, or 
something of comparable seriousness, that has either happened in the past, 
is currently happening, or is likely to happen in the future:

(a) A criminal offence has been or is being committed.

(b) The authority or some other person has failed or is failing to comply 
with any legal obligation to which they are subject.

(c) A miscarriage of justice has occurred.

(d) The health or safety of any individual is in danger.

(e) The environment is likely to be damaged.

Page 32



APPENDIX 2

(f) That information tending to show any matter falling within (a) to (e) is 
deliberately concealed.

Any disclosure must also be made in good faith. This condition will not be 
met if you act with an ulterior motive, for example, to achieve a party political 
advantage or to settle a score with a political opponent rather than simply 
out of public interest.

Finally you should ensure that you have complied with all reasonable 
requirements of the authority. This means that before making any disclosure 
you must comply with the authority’s policies or protocols on matters such as 
whistle-blowing and confidential information. You must therefore first raise 
your concerns through the appropriate channels set out in such policies or 
protocols.

In summary, to decide whether the disclosure is reasonable and in the public 
interest, you will need to conduct a balancing exercise weighing up the 
public interest in maintaining confidentiality against any countervailing public 
interest favouring disclosure. This will require a careful focus on how 
confidential the information is, on any potentially harmful consequences of 
its disclosure, and on any factors which may justify its disclosure despite 
these potential consequences.

In some situations, it is extremely unlikely that a disclosure can be justified in 
the public interest. These will include where the disclosure amounts to a 
criminal offence, or where the information disclosed is protected by legal 
professional privilege.

1.4 You must not bring your office or the authority into disrepute

As a member, your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny 
than that of ordinary members of the public.  You should be aware that your 
actions might have an adverse impact on your office or the authority.  
Dishonest and deceitful behaviour or threatening or violent behaviour in your 
role as a member may bring the authority into disrepute

1.5 You must treat others with respect and must promote equality by not 
discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people 
with respect, regardless of their sex, race, age, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation or disability.  

You must treat others with respect. In politics, rival groupings are common, 
either in formal political parties or more informal alliances.  It is expected that 
each will campaign for their ideas, and they may also seek to discredit the 
politics and actions of their opponents.  Criticism of ideas and opinion is part 
of democratic debate, and does not in itself amount to failing to treat 
someone with respect.

Whilst ideas and policies may be robustly criticised, however, individuals 
should not be subject to unreasonable or excessive personal attacks.  This 
particularly applies to dealing with the public and officers.  Chairs of 

Page 33



APPENDIX 2

meetings are expected to apply the rules of debate and procedure rules or 
standing orders to prevent abusive or disorderly conduct.

Whilst there may be unreasonable demands on members, members should, 
as far as possible, treat people courteously and with consideration.  Rude 
and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 
its elected representatives.

In particular, you must not do anything which may cause the authority to 
breach any equality laws. You must be careful not to act in a way which may 
amount to any of the prohibited forms of discrimination, or do anything which 
hinders the authority’s fulfilment of its positive duties under equality laws.  
Such conduct may cause the authority to breach the law, and you may find 
yourself subject to a complaint that you have breached this paragraph of the 
Code of Conduct.

1.6 You must respect the impartiality and integrity of the Board’s statutory 
officers and its other employees.    

You should respect the impartiality and integrity of the Board’s statutory 
officers and its other employees.

You should not approach or pressure anyone who works for, or on behalf of, 
the Board to carry out their duties in a biased or partisan way.  They must be 
neutral and should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would 
undermine their neutrality.  For example, you should not get officers to help 
you prepare party political material, or to help you with matters relating to 
your private business.  

Although you can robustly question officers in order to understand, for 
example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content 
of a report that they have written, you must not try and force them to act 
differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so 
would prejudice their professional integrity. 

1.7 When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such 
as making public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending 
individuals for rewards or benefits on merit.  

As an member of the Board you are responsible for administering resources 
on behalf of the best interests of the Fund, specifically the membership you 
have been appointed to represent.  You should administer these resources 
fairly and in accordance with the law.  It is inappropriate for the Board’s 
resources or powers to be used in such a way that the Board and its 
members be left open to accusations that inappropriate influence played a 
part, for example, “it’s not what you know, it’s who you know!”

1.8 You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-
operate fully with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office.

Page 34



APPENDIX 2

This requirement is linked to carrying out all duties in a fair and transparent 
manner.  Members are able to be held to account for their actions and, this 
being the case, you must be open to and cooperate with any legitimate 
scrutiny that is to be applied.

1.9 You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and 
the decisions and actions of the authority and should be prepared to 
give reasons for those decisions and actions.

Members should have good reasons for the decisions they make and should 
not make decisions which are based purely on self-interest or prejudice.  
The public we serve has the right to have decisions which affect their day-to-
day lives taken for proper reasons and need to be able to understand why 
we have taken a course of action and, if necessary, exercise any right of 
challenge that is open to them.

Page 35



APPENDIX 2

1.10 You must only use the resources of the Board in accordance with its 
requirements. In particular you must ensure, when using or authorising 
the use by others of the resources of the authority, that such resources 
are not used improperly for political purposes (including party political 
purposes) and you must have regard to any applicable Local Authority 
Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.

Where the authority provides you with resources (for example telephone, 
computer and other IT facilities, transport or support from authority 
employees), you must only use these resources or employees for carrying 
out your local authority business and any other activity which the authority 
has authorised you to use them for.

You must be familiar with the rules applying to the use of these resources 
made by the authority. Failure to comply with the Board’s rules is likely to 
amount to a breach of the code.

If you authorise someone (for example a member of your family) to use the 
authority’s resources, you must take care to ensure that this is allowed by 
the Board’s rules.

1.11 You must promote and support high standards of conduct when 
serving in your office.

You have a duty to promote and support high standards of conduct and to 
behave in a way which is consistent with the seven general principles of 
public life set out in Appendix C of the Code. 

INTERESTS

Registration of interests

You need to register your interests so that the public, authority staff and fellow 
members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest.  The 
register is a document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises, and 
helps to ensure transparency of decision-making. 

The register also protects you. You are responsible for deciding whether or not you 
should declare an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early 
on if others think that a potential conflict might arise.  It is also important that the 
public know about any interest that might have to be declared by you or other 
members, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest.  This 
helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local government is 
maintained

You must notify the Monitoring Officer of any relevant interests to be included in the 
Board’s register of interests. A copy of the register will be available for public 
inspection and will be published on the Administering Authority’s website.

Page 36



APPENDIX 2

You have two types of registerable interests -

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests; and

(b) Other registerable interests (including gifts and hospitality)

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

These are interests (set out in Appendix A of the Code) which must be 
notified to the Board’s Monitoring Officer within 28 days beginning with the 
day on which you become a member of the Board in accordance with the 
statutory requirements of the Localism Act 2011. These are enforced by 
criminal sanction, and failure to register or declare them is a criminal 
offence.

A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself or your partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil 
partners) of the following descriptions -

(a) Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried 
on for profit or gain.

(b) Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant 
period in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties 
as a member, or towards your election expenses. (This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

(c) Details of any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the 
relevant authority under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and which has not been fully discharged. 

(d) Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.  

(e) Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

(f) Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is the 
relevant authority; and the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest.

(g) Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body 
(to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
relevant authority; and either the total nominal value of the securities 
exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of 
that body; or if that share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 

Page 37



APPENDIX 2

relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class.

For the purposes of the above “relevant authority” means the Board of which 
you are a member, and “relevant period” means the period of 12 months 
ending with the day on which you notify the Monitoring Officer of your 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 

(b) Other Registerable Interests

In addition to any disclosable pecuniary interests, you must, within 28 days 
of your election or appointment to office notify the Monitoring Officer in 
writing of the details of your interests within the following categories (set out 
in Appendix B of the Code), which the Board has decided must be included 
in the register of interests:

(a) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control 
or management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the 
Board;

(b) any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control 
or management and which –

(i) exercises functions of a public nature,

(ii)is directed to charitable purposes, or 

(iii) is a body which includes as one of its principal purposes 
influencing public opinion or policy (this includes political parties 
or trade unions);

(c) any persons from whom you have a received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £100 that you receive personally in connection 
with your official duties.

Gifts and Hospitality

You must register the gift or hospitality and its source within 28 days of receiving it.

You should ask yourself would I have been given this if I were not on the Board?  If 
you are in doubt as to the motive behind a gift or hospitality, we recommend that 
you register it or speak to the Monitoring Officer.

You do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role 
as a member, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family, or gifts which 
you do not accept.  However, you should always register a gift or hospitality if it 
could be perceived as something given to you because of your position or if the 
authority requires you to.

Page 38



APPENDIX 2

You may have to estimate how much a gift or hospitality is worth.  Also, an 
accumulation of small gifts you received from the same source over a short period 
that add up to £100 or more should be registered.

The general rule is, if in doubt as to the value of a gift or hospitality, you should 
register it, as a matter of good practice and in accordance with the principles of 
openness and accountability in public life.

Changes to Registerable Interests

You must, within 28 days of becoming aware of any new registerable interest or 
change to any interest already registered notify the Monitoring Officer of the  details 
of that new interest or change.

Sensitive interests

Where you consider that disclosure of the details of an interest could lead to you, or 
a person connected with you, being subject to violence or intimidation, and the 
Monitoring Officer agrees, the Monitoring Officer will make a note of the interest but 
will not enter it into the register. 

A sensitive interest may include any sensitive employment (such as certain 
scientific research or the Special Forces) or other interests that are likely to create 
serious risk of violence or intimidation against you or someone who lives with you.

You should provide this information to your Monitoring Officer and explain your 
concerns regarding the disclosure of the sensitive information, including why it is 
likely to create a serious risk that you or a person who lives with you will be 
subjected to violence or intimidation.  You do not need to include this information in 
your register of interests if your Monitoring Officer agrees, but you need to disclose 
at meetings the fact that you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the matter 
concerned. 

Definitions

Most of the wording above is taken from statute and therefore may not be easy to 
understand. The following section explains what some of the categories of 
registerable interests mean in practice:

If you need further information or specific advice, please contact your Monitoring 
Officer.

Page 39



APPENDIX 2

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;

“body in 
which the 
relevant 
person has 
a beneficial 
interest”

means a firm in which the relevant person is a partner 
or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a 
director, or in the securities of which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest;

“director” includes a member of the committee of management 
of an industrial and provident society;

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or 
over land which does not carry with it a right for the 
relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to 
occupy the land or to receive income;

“M” means a member of a relevant authority;

“member” includes a co-opted member;

“relevant 
authority”

means the Board of which M is a member;

“relevant 
period”

means the period of 12 months ending with the day on 
which M gives a notification for the purposes of section 
30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act;

“relevant 
person”

means -

(i) M,

(ii) M's spouse or civil partner,

(iii) a person with whom M is living as husband and 
wife, or

(iv)a person with whom M is living as if they were civil 
partners.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan 
stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme 
within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any 
description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.

Page 40

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I9AA4F73014C911E1A6718D7CED27531D
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=ID78FE7E014C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=ID78FE7E014C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=7&crumb-action=replace&docguid=ID78FE7E214C911E19E5AF8480E3EF42C
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=17&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FACA830E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&&context=17&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5FACA830E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB


APPENDIX 2

body 
exercising 
functions 
of a public 
nature

Although it is not possible to produce a definitive list of 
such bodies, here are some criteria to consider when 
deciding whether or not a body meets that definition -

 Does that body carry out a public service?

 Is the body taking the place of local or central 
government in carrying out the function?

 Is the body (including one outsourced in the 
private sector) exercising a function delegated to 
it by a public authority?

 Is the function exercised under legislation or 
according to some statutory power?

 Can the body be judicially reviewed?

Unless you answer “yes” to one of the above 
questions, it is unlikely that the body in your case is 
exercising functions of a public nature.

Examples of bodies included in this definition: 
government agencies, other local authorities, public 
health bodies, authority-owned companies exercising 
public functions, arms-length management 
organisations carrying out housing functions on behalf 
of the authority, school governing bodies.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

As well as the requirement to register interests, there will be times when you need 
to declare interests at meetings. This section explains when you will need to 
declare an interest and what steps you will need to take.

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Introduction

Unless you have been granted a dispensation, where a matter arises at a 
meeting which relates to a disclosable pecuniary interest then you must 
declare that interest to the meeting and leave the room whilst any discussion 
or vote takes place.

Page 41



APPENDIX 2

This is in the interests of transparency so that it is known and understood by 
all and is a matter of public record.  If a declaration is not made, other than 
through the register, it would not necessarily be apparent to anyone who is 
present at the meeting why a particular member is not participating or voting 
in any matter.

If a dispensation has been granted to you in relation to a disclosable 
pecuniary interest then, subject to the terms of the dispensation, you may be 
relieved from the above restrictions but will still be required to declare the 
interest to the meeting.

Dispensations

The Monitoring Officer may grant you a dispensation, but only in limited 
circumstances, to enable you to participate and/or vote on a matter in which 
you have a disclosable pecuniary interest. These circumstances are where –

 It is considered that without the dispensation the number of persons 
prohibited from participating in any particular business would be so great 
a proportion of the body transacting the business as to impede the 
transaction of the business.  

 That, without the dispensation, the equal representation of requirements 
would be so upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the 
business.  

 That the Board considers that the dispensation is in the interests of the 
interested parties being represented.

 That the Board considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 
dispensation.

Offences

Members should be aware that it is a serious offence to

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest 
within 28 days of election

 Fail to disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest at a meeting if it is not on 
the register

 Fail to notify the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of a disclosable 
pecuniary interest that is not on the register that you have disclosed to a 
meeting

 Participate in any discussion or vote on a matter in which you have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest

Page 42



APPENDIX 2

 Knowingly or recklessly providing information that is false or misleading 
in notifying the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest or in 
disclosing such interest to a meeting

(b) Other interests

Introduction

Disclosable pecuniary interests are mandatory for members of the Board. In 
the interests of transparency, there are other categories included in your 
code.  These are both other categories of interests that you need to register, 
such as membership of outside bodies, but also interests which are not 
directly yours or about you or your partner but clearly may influence you - for 
example, interests of other family members or close associates. In these 
cases of interests of friends and family you don’t need to put them on the 
register but you will need to declare them if any business of the Board 
relates to or affects them.

In most cases you would simply declare the interest but then carry on and 
participate as normal. However, in certain circumstances the interest would 
be so affected that you should not participate in the meeting.

What do I need to do?

If you have an interest in an item of business as a result of the matter 
affecting the financial position of yourself, a relative, friend or a close 
associate and it is not a disclosable pecuniary interest then you need to 
declare that interest. 

In most circumstances, you can still participate in the meeting. However, if 
you or those with an interest close to you would:

a) be affected by the outcome of the decision more than it would affect the 
majority of other people in the relevant area affected; and 

b) a reasonable member of the public would therefore think your view 
of the public interest would be adversely affected 

you must not take part in the decision.

In that case, you are allowed to speak before withdrawing if the public also 
has the right to speak. This is to ensure that you have the same rights to 
advocate for a decision on behalf of somebody close to you as any ordinary 
member of the public would have but you are not allowed to vote on the 
matter, nor are you allowed to take part in confidential discussions, as this 
would be giving the person affected an unfair advantage over other 
members of the public.

Clearly you cannot be expected to declare something of which you are 
unaware.  However you should not ignore the existence of interests which, 

Page 43



APPENDIX 2

from the point of view of a reasonable and objective observer, you should 
have been aware.

Definitions

“affecting the financial position” 

An interest can affect you, your family or close personal associates positively 
and negatively.  So if you or they have the potential either to gain or lose 
from a matter under consideration, an interest would need to be declared.

‘a friend, relative or close associate’

A relative should be given wide meaning.  It includes a partner (someone 
you are married to, your civil partner, or someone you live with in a similar 
capacity), a parent, parent-in-law, a son or daughter, a stepson, or 
stepdaughter, the child of a partner, a brother or sister of yourself or your 
partner, a grandparent, a grandchild, an uncle or aunt, a nephew or niece 
and the partners of any of these people.

A friend or close associate is someone that you are in either regular or 
irregular contact with over a period of time who is more than an 
acquaintance.  It is someone a reasonable member of the public might think 
you would be prepared to favour or disadvantage when discussing a matter 
that affects them.  It may be a friend, a colleague, a business associate or 
someone whom you know through general social contacts.

‘a reasonable member of the public’

If a reasonable member of the public with knowledge of all the relevant facts 
would think that your judgement of the interest of the Fund would be 
prejudiced, then you should not be taking part in the decision.

You must ask yourself whether a member of the public – if he or she knew 
all the relevant facts – would think that your interest was so significant that it 
would be likely to prejudice your judgement. In other words, the interest must 
be perceived as likely to harm or impair your ability to judge the interest of 
the Fund. 

Some general principles must be remembered when applying this test. You 
should clearly act in the interest of the Fund and not in the interests of family 
or close associates. You are a custodian of the public purse and the public 
interest and your behaviour and decisions should reflect this responsibility.

Bias and predetermination

Although these concepts are not mentioned specifically in the Code of 
Conduct, members do need to be aware of them as the Board may be 
challenged if a decision has not been taken properly.

Page 44



APPENDIX 2

Having comprehensive rules for registration and declaration of interests 
which are adhered to will protect an authority from this risk but do not cover 
all the areas which may affect the making of a decision. 

The rules against bias say that there are three distinct elements.  The first 
seeks accuracy in public decision-making and the second seeks the 
absence of prejudice or partiality on the part of you as the decision-maker. 
An accurate decision is more likely to be achieved by a decision-maker who 
is in fact impartial or disinterested in the outcome of the decision and who 
puts aside any personal prejudices. Merely being a member / representative 
employer of the Fund does not disqualify you as an impartial decision-
maker.

The third requirement is for public confidence in the decision-making 
process. Even though the decision-maker may in fact be scrupulously 
impartial, the appearance of bias can itself call into question the legitimacy of 
the decision-making process. In general, the rule against bias looks to the 
appearance or risk of bias rather than bias in fact, in order to ensure that 
‘justice should not only be done, but should manifestly and undoubtedly be 
seen to be done. 

To varying degrees, these “requirements” might be seen to provide the 
rationales behind what are generally taken to be three separate rules against 
bias: “automatic” (or “presumed”) bias, “actual” bias and “appearance” bias.

The rationale behind “automatic” or “presumed” bias appears to be that in 
certain situations (such as if you have a pecuniary or proprietary interest in 
the outcome of the proceedings) then it must be presumed that you are 
incapable of impartiality. Since a motive for bias is thought to be so obvious 
in such cases, the decisions are not allowed to stand even though no 
investigation is made into whether the decision-maker was biased in fact.  In 
these circumstances you should not participate in a decision. That is 
why there are rules in the Code of Conduct setting out when you should and 
should not participate where a clear interest arises.

However, there are circumstances beyond the Code rules which cover the 
other areas of bias – where a decision is taken with a closed mind or the 
appearance of a closed mind.

The Localism Act 2011 has enshrined the rules relating to pre-disposition 
and predetermination into statute.  In essence you are not taken to have 
had, or appeared to have had, a closed mind when making a decision just 
because you have previously done anything that directly or in-directly 
indicated what view you may take in relation to a matter and that matter was 
relevant to the decision.  

So, you are entitled to have a pre-disposition one way or another as long as 
you have not pre-determined the outcome.  You are able to express an 
opinion providing that you come to the relevant meeting with an open mind, 
able to take account of all of the evidence and make your decision on the 
day. Provided that you can demonstrate that you have an open mind and 

Page 45



APPENDIX 2

have listened to both sides of any argument fairly and considered all the 
evidence, you will not be seen as having predetermined an issue.

Page 46



FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD

Meeting date: 24th November 2015

From: Assistant Director – Finance (Section 151 
Officer)

NEW POLICY ON REPORTING BREACHES TO THE PENSIONS’ 
REGULATOR

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 All individuals with a role in the running and governance of the Fire 
Pension Scheme  have a duty to report breaches of law when they have 
reasonable cause to believe that:

 A legal duty relevant to the administration of the scheme has not 
been, or is not being, complied with; and

 The failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to the 
regulator.

1.2 There should be no reliance placed on waiting for others to report.

1.3 It is therefore important that procedures are in place to identify, assess 
and report/record a breach of law, and that all relevant persons are 
appropriately informed.  

1.4 The policy and process for identifying, assessing and 
reporting/recording breaches of the law for Cumbria Fire Pension 
Scheme are set out in Appendix 1 to this report.  For consistency and 
efficiency it is proposed to use the policy in place for the Cumbria 
LGPS. This policy was approved by Members of the Cumbria Local 
Pension Board on 9th October 2015.  Members of the Fire Pension 
Board are asked to endorse and adopt this policy. 

2.0 STRATEGIC PLANNING AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

2.1 A well governed Scheme must maintain and publish its efficient and 
effective Policies. Robust governance arrangements help to ensure 
good management of the Scheme and reduce the risk of fines being 
levied for non-compliance. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 19

2.2 There are no specific equality implications arising out of the 
recommendations of this report.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

4.0 The Board is asked to endorse and adopt the content of the policy and 
process for identifying, assessing and reporting/recording breaches of 
the law for the Fire Pension Scheme. 

5.0 BACKGROUND

5.1 All individuals with a role in the public sector pension schemes have a duty 
to report breaches of law when they have reasonable cause to believe that:

 A legal duty relevant to the administration of the scheme has not been, 
or is not being, complied with; and

 The failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to the 
regulator.

5.2 This includes officers of the scheme manager (Cumbria County Council), the 
Fire local pension board (LPB) members, third party administrators, scheme 
employers, professional advisers (e.g. actuary) as well as any other person 
involved in advising the scheme manager in relation to the scheme. 

5.3 The Pensions Act 2004 states that a person can be subject to a civil penalty 
if he or she fails to comply with this requirement without a reasonable 
excuse.  The duty to report breaches under the Act overrides any other 
duties the individuals listed above may have. However the duty to report 
does not override ‘legal privilege’. This means that, generally, 
communications between a professional legal adviser and their client, or a 
person representing their client, in connection with legal advice being given 
to the client, do not have to be disclosed.

5.4 Breaches can occur in relation to a wide variety of the tasks normally 
associated with the administrative function of a scheme such as keeping 
records, internal controls and calculating benefits. All reporters should have 
procedures in place to meet their reporting duty and there should be no 
reliance placed on waiting for others to report. Practical guidance in relation 
to this legal requirement is included in The Pensions Regulator’s Code of 
Practice1 and this policy and procedure has been developed to reflect that 
guidance.  

5.5 The policy and procedure set out in Appendix 1 details how individuals 
responsible for reporting and whistleblowing can identify, assess and report 
(or record if not reported) a breach of law relating to the Scheme.  It aims to 
ensure individuals responsible are able to meet their legal obligations, avoid 

1 www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-governance-administration-public-service-pension-
schemes.aspx#s16855

Page 48



Page 3 of 19

placing any reliance on others to report. The procedure will also assist in 
providing an early warning of possible malpractice and reduce risk.

6.0 OPTIONS

6.1 To endorse the policy and process for identifying, assessing and 
reporting/recording breaches of the law for Cumbria LGPS, or

6.2 To propose amendments to the policy as it applies to the Fire LPB.

7.0 RESOURCE AND VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Achieving value for money should be and is an objective considered for all 
activities within the Council including the running of the Fire Service Pension 
Scheme as part of all policy reviews. Clearer, less bureaucratic policies and 
procedures aid in reducing administration costs. Additionally, adherence to 
regulatory and legislative requirements avoids potential expensive 
investigatory procedures and fines. Having a clear policy and procedure for 
the reporting of legal breaches reduces the risk of fines being levied as a 
result of individuals not being clear about their responsibilities in this area.

8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.1 The endorsement and adoption of this policy by the Board will assist Board 
members in complying with their legal responsibilities as set out in the 
Pension Act 2004.

9.0 CONCLUSION

9.1 All individuals with a role in the Fire Pension Scheme have a duty to report 
breaches of law when they have reasonable cause to believe that a breach 
of material significance to the Pensions Regulator has taken place.  Where a 
breach is not deemed material there is a requirement to record the breach.  

9.2 In line with guidance issued by the Pensions Regulator, the Fire Pension 
Scheme has developed a policy and procedure for ensuring those 
responsible for reporting and whistleblowing can identify, assess and report 
(or record if not reported) a breach of law relating to the Scheme.

J Crellin
Assistant Director – Finance (s.151 Officer)
November 2015

Page 49



Page 4 of 19

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Cumbria LGPS/Fire Service Policy and Procedure for Reporting 
Breaches of the Law

Electoral Division(s): All

Executive Decision No*

Key Decision No*

If a Key Decision, is the proposal published in the current Forward Plan? N/A*

Is the decision exempt from call-in on grounds of urgency? No*

N/A*If exempt from call-in, has the agreement of the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee been sought or obtained?

No*Has this matter been considered by Overview and Scrutiny?
If so, give details below.

N/A*Has an environmental or sustainability impact assessment been 
undertaken?

No*Has an equality impact assessment been undertaken?

N.B. If an executive decision is made, then a decision cannot be implemented until the 
expiry of the eighth working day after the date of the meeting – unless the decision is 
urgent and exempt from call-in and necessary approvals have been obtained.

PREVIOUS RELEVANT COUNCIL OR EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

Approved by the Cumbria Pension Committee on 21st September 2015, and 
Cumbria Local Pension Board on 9th October 2015.

REPORT AUTHOR

Contact:
Alison Clark, Group Finance Manager – Pensions, Treasury & Insurance, 01228 
226311, alison.clark@cumbria.gov.uk

Fiona Miller, Senior Manager – Pension and Financial Services (Deputy S151 
LGPS), 01228 226280, Fiona.miller@cumbria.gov.uk

Page 50



Appendix 1

Page 5 of 19

Fire Pension Scheme Policy and Procedure on Reporting Breaches of the Law

Contents:

1 Introduction 5
2 Requirements 6

2.1 Introduction 6
2.2 Pensions Act 2004 6
2.3 The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice 7
2.4 Application to the Fire Pension Scheme 7

3 Reporting breaches procedure 7
3.1 Introduction 7
3.2 Clarification of the law 7
3.3 Clarification when a breach is suspected 8
3.4 Determining if a breach is materially significant 9
3.5 Referral to a level of seniority for a decision to be made on whether to 

report
9

3.6 Decision tree: Deciding whether or not to report 10
3.7 Timescales for reporting 11
3.8 Recording all breaches even if not reported 11
3.9 Reporting a breach 11

3.10 Confidentiality 12
3.11 Reporting to the Pensions Board 12

4 Review and maintenance of the policy 13

1. Introduction 

1.1 This document sets out the procedures to be followed by persons involved 
with the Fire Pension Scheme (‘the Scheme’), managed and administered by 
Cumbria County Council (also known as the ‘Scheme Manager’), in relation to 
reporting breaches of the law.

1.2 Under the Pensions Act 2004 certain persons have a duty to report breaches 
of the law when there is reasonable cause to believe that:
 A legal duty relevant to the administration of the scheme has not been, or 

is not being, complied with; and
 The failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to the 

regulator.

Page 51



Appendix 1

Page 6 of 19

1.3 Breaches can occur in relation to a wide variety of the tasks normally 
associated with the administrative function of a scheme such as keeping 
records, internal controls and calculating benefits .

1.4 The duty to report overrides any other duties however it does not override 
‘legal privilege’.  This means that, generally, communications between a 
professional legal adviser and their client, or a person representing their client, 
in connection with legal advice being given to the client, do not have to be 
disclosed.

1.5 This document applies, in the main, to:
 all Members of the Cumbria Local Pension Board;
 all Members of the Cumbria Pension Committee;
 all Members of the Fire Pension Board;
 all officers involved in the management of the Scheme;
 personnel of the shared service pensions administrator providing day 

to day administration services to the Scheme; 
 any professional advisers including independent advisers, auditors, 

actuaries, legal advisers to the Scheme; 
 officers of employers participating in the Scheme who are responsible 

for pension matters; and
 any other person involved in the administration of the Scheme and/or in 

advising the scheme manager in relation to the Scheme.

2. Requirements

2.1. This section clarifies the full extent of the legal requirements and to whom 
they apply.

2.2. Pensions Act 2004

2.2.1. Section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 requires that certain people must report 
breaches of the law in writing to The Pensions’ Regulator as soon as 
reasonably practicable and where they have reasonable cause to believe 
that:
a) a legal duty which is relevant to the administration of the scheme has not 

been, or is not being, complied with: this could relate for instance to 
keeping records, internal controls, calculating benefits and administration 
matters; and

b) the failure to comply is likely to be of material significance to The 
Pensions’ Regulator.

2.2.2. The Act states that a person can be subject to a civil penalty if he or she fails 
to comply with this requirement without a reasonable excuse.  The duty to 
report breaches under the Act overrides any other duties the individuals 
listed above may have. However the duty to report does not override ‘legal 
privilege’. This means that, generally, communications between a 
professional legal adviser and their client, or a person representing their 

Page 52



Appendix 1

Page 7 of 19

client, in connection with legal advice being given to the client, do not have 
to be disclosed.

2.2.3. The requirement applies to the following persons:
 a trustee or manager of an occupational or personal pension scheme;
 a member of the pension board of a public service pension scheme;
 a person who is otherwise involved in the administration of such a 

scheme an occupational or personal pension scheme;
 the employer in relation to an occupational pension scheme;
 a professional adviser in relation to such a scheme; and
 a person who is otherwise involved in advising the trustees or 

managers of an occupational or personal pension scheme in relation to 
the scheme.

2.3. The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice

2.3.1. Practical guidance in relation to this legal requirement is included in The 
Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice2 including in the following areas:
 implementing adequate procedures;
 judging whether a breach must be reported;
 submitting a report to The Pensions Regulator; and
 whistleblowing protection and confidentiality.

2.4. Application to the Fire Pension Scheme (‘the Scheme’)

2.4.1. This policy and procedure has been developed to reflect the guidance 
contained in The Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice in relation to the 
Scheme and this document sets out how the Scheme will strive to achieve 
best practice through use of a formal reporting breaches procedure.  

3. The Scheme Reporting Breaches Procedure

3.1. Introduction

3.1.1. The following procedure details how individuals responsible for reporting and 
whistleblowing can identify, assess and report (or record if not reported) a 
breach of law relating to the Scheme.  It aims to ensure individuals 
responsible are able to meet their legal obligations, avoid placing any 
reliance on others to report. The procedure will also assist in providing an 
early warning of possible malpractice and reduce risk.

3.2. Clarification of the law

3.2.1. Individuals may need to refer to regulations and guidance when considering 
whether or not to report a possible breach. Some of the key provisions are 
shown below:

2 www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-governance-administration-public-service-pension-
schemes.aspx#s16855

Page 53



Appendix 1

Page 8 of 19

 Section 70(1) and 70(2) of the Pensions Act 2004:
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/35/contents

 Employment Rights Act 1996:
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/18/contents

 Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes (Disclosure of 
Information) Regulations 2013 (Disclosure Regulations):
www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/2734/contents/made

 Public Service Pension Schemes Act 2013:
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents

 Fire Pension Scheme Regulations (various):
 The Pensions Regulator’s Code of Practice:

http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-governance-
administration-publicservice-pension-schemes.aspx
In particular, individuals should refer to the section on ‘Reporting 
breaches of the law’, and for information about reporting late payments 
of employee or employer contributions, the section of the code on 
‘Maintaining contributions’.

3.2.2. Further guidance and assistance can be provided by the s151 Officer; Senior 
Manager: Pensions & Financial Services and the Monitoring Officer (see 
3.3.3 for further details), provided that requesting this assistance will not 
result in alerting those responsible for any serious offence (where the breach 
is in relation to such an offence).

3.3. Clarification when a breach is suspected

3.3.1. Individuals need to have reasonable cause to believe that a breach has 
occurred, not just a suspicion.  Having ‘reasonable cause’ to believe that a 
breach has occurred means more than merely having a suspicion that 
cannot be substantiated. In establishing whether there is reasonable cause 
to believe that a breach has occurred, it is not necessary for a reporter to 
gather all the evidence which the scheme manager or the Pension Regulator 
may require before taking legal action.

3.3.2. It is also important that a reporter is aware that any delay in reporting any 
potential breach may exacerbate or increase the risk of the breach causing 
further and more significant issues.

3.3.3. Where a breach is suspected the individual should carry out further checks 
to confirm the breach has occurred.  Where the individual does not know the 
facts or events, it will usually be appropriate to check with the  s.151 Officer, 
Senior Manager: Pensions & Financial Services (Deputy s.151 LGPS), the 
Monitoring Officer, a member of the Pension Board or others who are able to 
explain what has happened (see 3.5 below).  

3.3.4. There are some instances where it would not be appropriate to make further 
checks, for example, if the individual has become aware of theft, suspected 
fraud or another serious offence and they are also aware that by making 
further checks there is a risk of either alerting those involved or hampering 

Page 54

http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-governance-


Appendix 1

Page 9 of 19

the actions of the police or a regulatory authority.  In these cases The 
Pensions Regulator should be contacted without delay.

3.4. Determining whether the breach is likely to be of material significance

3.4.1. To decide whether a breach is likely to be of material significance an 
individual should consider the following, both separately and collectively:

 cause of the breach (what made it happen);
 effect of the breach (the consequence(s) of the breach);
 reaction to the breach; and
 wider implications of the breach.

3.4.2. Further details on the above four considerations are provided in Annex A to 
this procedure.

3.4.3. The individual should use the traffic light framework described in Annex B to 
help assess the material significance of each breach and to formally support 
and document their decision.

3.5. Referral to a level of seniority for a decision to be made on whether to 
report 

3.5.1. Subject to paragraph 3.5.3 before you submit a report to The Pensions 
Regulator you should refer the suspected breach to the appropriate level of 
authority to assist in determining whether a report needs to be made.  
Cumbria County Council has determined that the appropriate persons are 
the s.151 Officer, the Senior Manager – Pensions & Financial Services 
(Deputy s.151 LGPS) and/or the Monitoring Officer and/or External Audit.  
They are considered to have appropriate experience to help investigate 
whether there is reasonable cause to believe a breach has occurred, to 
check the law and facts of the case, to maintain records of all breaches and 
to assist in any reporting to TPR, where appropriate.   

3.5.2. Information may also be available from national resources such as the 
National Scheme Advisory Board or LGA (Local Government Association, 
http://www.local.gov.uk/).  If timescales allow, legal advice or other 
professional advice can be sought.

3.5.3. The matter should not be referred to any of these officers if doing so will alert 
any person responsible for a possible serious offence to the investigation. If 
that is the case, the individual should report the matter to The Pensions 
Regulator setting out the reasons for reporting, including any uncertainty – a 
telephone call to the Regulator before the submission may be appropriate, 
particularly in more serious breaches.  Before referring to the Pensions 
Regulator the individual may prefer to approach ‘External Audit’ for their 
opinion.

3.5.4. Individuals must bear in mind that the involvement of the Senior Manager – 
Pensions & Financial Services (Deputy s.151 LGPS) and/or the Monitoring 

Page 55

http://www.local.gov.uk/


Appendix 1

Page 10 of 19

Officer is to help clarify the potential reporter's thought process and to 
ensure this procedure is followed. The reporter remains responsible for the 
final decision as to whether a matter should be reported to TPR.

3.6. Decision Tree: deciding whether or not to report:

3.6.1. A decision tree is provided below to show the process for deciding whether 
or not a breach has taken place and whether it is materially significant and 
therefore requires to be reported.

Page 56



Appendix 1

Page 11 of 19

3.7. Timescales for reporting

3.7.1. The Pensions Act and The Pensions Regulator’s Code require that if an 
individual decides to report a breach, the report must be made in writing as 
soon as reasonably practicable.  Individuals should not rely on waiting for 
others to report and nor is it necessary for a reporter to gather all the 

Page 57



Appendix 1

Page 12 of 19

evidence which TPR may require before taking action.  A delay in reporting 
may exacerbate or increase the risk of the breach.  The time taken to reach 
the judgements on “reasonable cause to believe” and on “material 
significance” should be consistent with the speed implied by ‘as soon as 
reasonably practicable’.  In particular, the time taken should reflect the 
seriousness of the suspected breach.

3.7.2. Early identification of very serious breaches: In cases of immediate risk 
to the scheme, for instance, where there is any indication of dishonesty, TPR 
does not expect reporters to seek an explanation or to assess the 
effectiveness of proposed remedies. They should only make such immediate 
checks as are necessary.  The more serious the potential breach and its 
consequences, the more urgently reporters should make these necessary 
checks. In cases of potential dishonesty the reporter should avoid, where 
possible, checks which might alert those implicated. In serious cases, 
reporters should use the quickest means possible to alert TPR to the breach.

3.8. Recording all breaches even if they are not reported

3.8.1. The record of past breaches may be relevant in deciding whether to report a 
breach (for example it may reveal a systemic issue).  Cumbria County 
Council will maintain a record of all breaches identified by individuals and 
reporters should therefore provide copies of reports to the Senior Manager: 
Pensions & Financial Services (Deputy s.151 LGPS) or the Monitoring 
Officer.  Records of unreported breaches should also be provided as soon 
as reasonably practicable and certainly no later than within 20 working days 
of the decision made not to report.  These will be recorded alongside all 
reported breaches. The record of all breaches (reported or otherwise) will be 
included in the Monitoring Report at each Pension Board meeting.

3.9. Reporting a breach

3.9.1. Reports must be submitted in writing via TPR’s online system at 
www.tpr.gov.uk/exchange, or by post, email or fax, and should be marked 
urgent if appropriate.  If necessary, a written report can be preceded by a 
telephone call.  Reporters should ensure they receive an acknowledgement 
for any report they send to TPR. TPR will acknowledge receipt of all reports 
within five working days and may contact reporters to request further 
information. Reporters will not usually be informed of any actions taken by 
TPR due to restrictions on the disclosure of information.

3.9.2. As a minimum, individuals reporting should provide:

 full scheme name (Fire Pension Scheme);
 description of breach(es);
 any relevant dates;
 name, position and contact details;
 role in connection to the scheme; and
 employer/ee name or name of scheme manager (the latter is Cumbria 

County Council).

Page 58



Appendix 1

Page 13 of 19

3.9.3. If possible, reporters should also indicate:
 the reason why the breach is thought to be of material significance to 

TPR;
 scheme address (provided at the end of this procedures document);
 scheme manager contact details (provided at the end of this procedures 

document);
 pension scheme registry number (PSR – 10079082); and
 whether the breach has been reported before.

3.9.4. The reporter should provide further information or reports of further breaches 
if this may help The Pensions Regulator in the exercise of its functions. The 
Pensions Regulator may make contact to request further information.

3.10. Confidentiality

3.10.1. If requested, TPR will do its best to protect a reporter’s identity and will not 
disclose information except where it is lawfully required to do so.  If an 
individual’s employer decides not to report and the individual employed by 
them disagrees with this and decides to report a breach themselves, they 
may have protection under the Employment Rights Act 1996 if they make an 
individual report in good faith.

3.11. Reporting to Pension Board

3.11.1. The monitoring report presented to the Local Pension Board at each meeting 
will include details of:
 all breaches, including those reported to The Pensions Regulator and 

those unreported, with the associated dates;
 in relation to each breach, details of what action was taken and the 

result of any action (where not confidential);
 any future actions for the prevention of the breach in question being 

repeated; and
 highlighting new breaches which have arisen in the last year/since the 

previous meeting.

3.11.2. This information will also be provided upon request by any other individual or 
organisation (excluding sensitive/confidential cases or ongoing cases where 
discussion may influence the proceedings).  An example of the information 
to be included is provided in Annex C to this procedure.

4. Review and maintenance of the policy:

4.1. This policy is expected to be appropriate for the long-term but to ensure good 
governance it will be formally reviewed by the Fire Local Pension Board at 
least annually to ensure that it remains accurate and relevant.  It may be 
changed as a result of legal or regulatory changes, evolving best practice and 
ongoing review of the effectiveness of the policy.

Page 59



Appendix 1

Page 14 of 19

Page 60



Appendix 1 - Annex A

Page 15 of 19

Determining whether a breach is likely to be of material significance

1. To decide whether a breach is likely to be of material significance individuals 
should consider the following elements, both separately and collectively:

 cause of the breach (what made it happen);
 effect of the breach (the consequence(s) of the breach);
 reaction to the breach; and
 wider implications of the breach.

2. Where appropriate expert or professional advice should be taken into account 
when deciding whether the breach is likely to be of material significance to the 
regulator.

3. The cause of the breach

3.1. Examples of causes which are likely to be of concern to The Pensions 
Regulator are provided below:

 dishonesty;
 poor governance or poor administration, i.e. failure to implement adequate 

administration procedures;
 slow or inappropriate decision-making practices;
 incomplete or inaccurate advice; or
 acting, or failing to act, in deliberate contravention of the law.

3.2. When deciding whether a cause is likely to be of material significance 
individuals should also consider:

 whether the breach has been caused by an isolated incident such as a 
power outage, fire, flood or a genuine one-off mistake.

 whether there have been any other breaches (reported to The Pensions 
Regulator or not) which when taken together may become materially 
significant n.b. historical information should be considered with care, 
particularly if changes have been made to address previously identified 
problems.

4. The effect of the breach

4.1. Examples of the possible effects (with possible causes) of breaches which are 
considered likely to be of material significance to The Pensions Regulator in 
the context of the Fire Pension Scheme are given below:

 Board members not having the appropriate degree of knowledge and 
understanding, which may result in them not fulfilling their roles, the 
Scheme not being properly governed and administered and/or the scheme 
manager breaching other legal requirements;

Page 61



Appendix 1 - Annex A

Page 16 of 19

 Conflicts of interest of Board members, which may result in them being 
prejudiced in the way in which they carry out their role and/or the ineffective 
governance and administration of the Scheme and/or the scheme manager 
breaching legal requirements;

 Inadequate internal controls, which may lead to the Scheme not being run 
in accordance with scheme regulations and other legal requirements, risks 
not being properly identified and managed and/or the right money not being 
paid to or by the Scheme at the right time;

 Inaccurate or incomplete information about benefits and scheme 
information provided to members, which may result in members not being 
able to effectively plan or make decisions about their retirement;

 Appropriate records not being maintained, which may result in member 
benefits being calculated incorrectly and/or not being paid to the right 
person at the right time;

 Misappropriation of assets, resulting in scheme assets not being 
safeguarded; and

 Any other breaches which may result in the scheme being poorly governed, 
managed or administered.

5. The reaction to the breach

5.1. Where prompt and effective action is taken to investigate and correct the 
breach and its causes and, where appropriate, notify any affected members 
the regulator will not normally consider this to be materially significant.

5.2. A breach is likely to be of concern and material significance to The Pensions 
Regulator where a breach has been identified and those involved:

 do not take prompt and effective action to remedy the breach and identify 
and tackle its cause in order to minimise risk of recurrence;

 are not pursuing corrective action to a proper conclusion; or
 fail to notify affected scheme members where it would have been 

appropriate to do so.

6. The wider implications of the breach

6.1. Reporters should also consider the wider implications when deciding whether 
a breach must be reported.  The breach is likely to be of material significance 
to The Pensions Regulator where the fact that a breach has occurred makes it 
more likely that further breaches will occur within the Scheme or, if due to 
maladministration by a third party, further breaches will occur in other pension 
schemes.

Page 62



Appendix 1 – Annex B

Page 17 of 19

Traffic light framework for deciding whether or not to report

It is recommended that those responsible for reporting use the traffic light 
framework when deciding whether to report to The Pensions Regulator. This is 
illustrated below:

Where the cause, effect, reaction and wider implications of a 
breach, when considered together, are likely to be of material 
significance.  

These must be reported to The Pensions Regulator.  

Example: Several members’ benefits have been calculated 
incorrectly.  The errors have not been recognised and no 
action has been taken to identify and tackle the cause or to 
correct the errors.

Where the cause, effect, reaction and wider implications of a 
breach, when considered together, may be of material 
significance. They might consist of several failures of 
administration that, although not significant in themselves, 
have a cumulative significance because steps have not been 
taken to put things right. 

You will need to exercise your own judgement to 
determine whether the breach is likely to be of material 
significance and should be reported.

Example: Several members’ benefits have been calculated 
incorrectly. The errors have been corrected, with no financial 
detriment to the members. However the breach was caused by 
a system error which may have wider implications for other 
public service schemes using the same system.

Where the cause, effect, reaction and wider implications of a 
breach, when considered together, are not likely to be of 
material significance.  

These should be recorded but do not need to be reported.

Example: A member’s benefits have been calculated 
incorrectly. This was an isolated incident, which has been 
promptly identified and corrected, with no financial detriment to 
the member. Procedures have been put in place to mitigate 
against this happening again.

All breaches should be recorded even if the decision is not to report.

AMBER

GREEN

RED

Page 63



Appendix 1 – Annex B

Page 18 of 19

When using the traffic light framework individuals should consider the content of the 
red, amber and green sections for each of the cause, effect, reaction and wider 
implications of the breach, before you consider the four together. Some useful 
examples of this is framework is provided by The Pensions Regulator at the 
following link:

www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/codes/code-related-report-breaches.aspx

Page 64



Appendix 1 – Annex C

Page 19 of 19

Example Record of Breaches

Date Category
(e.g.
administration,
contributions,
funding,
investment,
criminal activity)

Description
and cause
of breach

Possible effect
of breach and
wider
implications

Reaction of
relevant
parties to
breach

Reported / Not
reported
(with
justification if
not reported
and dates)

Outcome of 
report
and/or 
investigations

Outstanding
actions

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
	4 GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS TO ESTABLISH THE FIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD
	9 NEW POLICY ON REPORTING BREACHES TO THE PENSION REGULATOR

